# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINA

# Docket No. 22-0329

FILE COPY

MICHAEL D. RUBLE, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

Appeal from a final order of the Circuit Court of Cabell County (19-C-127)

RUST-OLEUM CORPORATION, ET AL.

Respondents.

# PETITIONERS' BRIEF

# Counsel for Petitioners, Michael D. Ruble and Brenda K. Ruble

R. Dean Hartley (WV Bar #1619)
Mark R. Staun (WV Bar #5728)
David B. Lunsford (WV Bar #12555)
HARTLEY LAW GROUP, PLLC
7 Pine Avenue
Wheeling, West Virginia 26003
Phone: (304) 233-0777
Fax: (304) 233-0774

dhartley@hartleylawgrp.com mstaun@hartleylawgrp.com dlunsford@hartleylawgrp.com

#

## I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Whether the circuit court violated the Rubles' constitutionally-guaranteed rights to have their common law claims tried by jury when the circuit court held that collateral estoppel, based upon a final order of a parallel Workers' Compensation proceeding, barred the Rubles' civil claims against non-employer, third-party tortfeasors.
- Whether the circuit court erred by applying collateral estoppel to bar the Rubles' claims against non-employer, third-party tortfeasors.
- 3. Whether the circuit court erred by taking judicial notice of the substantive causation determinations of the related Workers' Compensation proceedings, to establish that Mr. Ruble, in fact, did not develop an occupational disease as a result of his exposure to Respondents' chemical products that he worked with during the course and scope of his employment.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Introduction.

This appeal presents a fundamental and Constitutional question of first impression to this Court: Does the law of this State allow the application of collateral estoppel in favor of third-party product liability defendants when an employee-plaintiff loses his statutory workers' compensation occupational disease claim? Under the plain text of the West Virginia Constitution, case law examining West Virginia's statutory Workers' Compensation system and related common law civil claims against non-employer third-party defendants, and case law examining the scope of judicial notice, the answer to such question is plainly no.

In its rejection of Petitioners' answer to the above question, the circuit court noted that this Court has not addressed the relevant question and relied upon the reasoning of three foreign intermediate appellate courts, which did not confront similar state constitutional questions raised by this appeal. In so doing, the circuit court also expanded the application of judicial notice beyond the limitations imposed by the prior teachings of this Court.

The circuit court's order has now squarely presented to this Court the issue of whether adverse decisions in the statutory Workers' Compensation system may be utilized by third-party product liability defendants to bar an employee-plaintiff's civil common law claims against such third-party product liability defendants, and the answer is "no." The circuit court's order ignores the Rubles' Constitutionally-guaranteed right to have their civil common law claims against the third-party product liability defendants decided by a jury; ignores the fact that the Rubles' civil common law claims against the third-party product liability defendants do not arise under West Virginia's Workers' Compensation Act – an entirely distinct statutory scheme; and ignores this Court's prior guidance that judicial notice may not be used to take notice of the truth of the matters asserted in the prior litigation but rather to establish the fact of such litigation and its related filings.

This Court should take this opportunity to clarify the impact of workers' compensation proceedings on civil common law claims pursued by employee-plaintiffs against third-party tortfeasors, and in so doing, reverse the circuit court's final order and hold instead that (1) employee-plaintiffs have a Constitutionally-guaranteed right to have their civil common law claims against third-party tortfeasors decided by a jury; (2) the Workers' Compensation system is a creature of statute arising from a renunciation of common law rights and defenses by employers and employees, and that conclusions arising therefrom may not be used in civil common law claims between employee-plaintiffs and third-party tortfeasors; and/or (3) judicial notice is limited to establishing the fact of a prior litigation and its related filings and shall not be utilized by a court to take notice of the truth of the matters asserted in the prior litigation, particularly final causation conclusions reached in Workers' Compensation proceedings between employers and employees.

## B. Statement of facts.

From approximately 1996 to 2018, Plaintiff Michael D. Ruble was employed by RPM International in various positions at a Lesage, West Virginia facility. During his employment, Mr. Ruble was exposed to toxic substances such as polyurethane stains, paint strippers, pure xylene, pure acetone, paint thinners, "special reducers[,]" and lacquer thinners. After developing neuropathy and dermatitis, Mr. Ruble filed a workers' compensation occupational disease claim, and the Rubles filed the instant action, which includes common law civil claims against Respondents (herein referred to as "third-party product liability defendants"). JA 000005-JA 000034.

# C. Legal background.

West Virginia's Workers' Compensation system is set forth in Chapter 23 of the West Virginia Code. W. Va. Code § 23-1-1, et seq. West Virginia's Workers' Compensation statute expressly states that

It is the further intent of the Legislature that this chapter be interpreted so as to assure the quick and efficient delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter. . . . The workers' compensation system in this state is based on a mutual renunciation of common law rights and defenses by employers and employees alike. Employees' right to sue for damages over and above medical and health care benefits and wage loss benefits are to a certain degree limited by the provisions of this chapter and employers' rights to raise common law defenses, such as lack of negligence, contributory negligence on the part of the employee, and others, are curtailed as well. . . .

W. Va. Code § 23-1-1(b).

# 1. Historical context of workers' compensation laws.

Notwithstanding the Legislature's express intent, an understanding of the history of workers' compensation systems broadly and within this State is helpful. On a national level,

Nineteenth century employers owed a duty of care to employees, usually described in specific terms as a duty to provide employees with a reasonably safe place in which to work, reasonably safe tools and appliances, warnings of dangers likely to be unknown to employees, a sufficient number of suitable fellow servants, and rules that would make work safe. However, the ordinary rules of vicarious liability did not apply; under the fellow servant rule, the employer was not liable for injuries to an employee caused by the negligence of another employee. In addition, injured employees were barred by contributory negligence and a broad application of assumed risk. Beyond this, much of the work around machinery was unavoidably dangerous, so that injuries occurred often enough even without provable fault. All these things plus the delay and uncertainty of compensation made life for the injured worker almost intolerably difficult, especially in a day when no welfare backup of any kind was available.

. . .

Given the limited hopes a worker might have under the common law rules, workers' compensation statutes represented progressive reform. However, it originated in Germany, as Bismarck's defense against Marxism and workers' compensation ever since has shown a side favorable to workers and another side quite favorable to employers. In 1910 New York became the first state to enact a workers' compensation statute. This was held unconstitutional as a taking of property without due process because it imposed liability without fault, but with an amendment of its constitution New York got a statute that held up. Other states followed, most of them quickly. All states now have workers' compensation statutes. . . . Workers' compensation plans reflect the clearest expression of the enterprise liability ideas – that enterprise should bear the costs it systematically produces, including the costs of injury. But they also show a strong intent to limit significantly the employers' liability.

Dan B. Dobbs, The Law of Torts § 392, pp. 1097-1098 (2000).

The reasoning for this State's enactment of workers' compensation laws is similar to the national reasons described above. This Court has previously recalled "the purpose for the enactment of workmen's compensation legislation in the first instance." *Mandolidis v. Elkins Industries, Inc.*, 246 S.E.2d 907, 910, 161 W. Va. 695, 699 (1978).

The paramount reason for such legislation was, of course, that under the common law tort system workers injured in industrial accidents recovered compensatory damages in a rather small percentage of cases.<sup>I</sup>

The common law tort system with its defenses of contributory negligence, assumption of risk and the fellow servant rule was considered inimical to the public welfare and was replaced by a new and revolutionary system wherein "fault" became immaterial – essentially a no-fault system.

The Workmen's Compensation Act was designed to remove Negligently caused industrial accidents from the common law tort system.<sup>2</sup> This quote from an earlier Workmen's Compensation decision provides additional historical perspective and insight as to the purpose of this law:

"The conditions giving rise to a law, the faults to be remedied, the aspirations evidently intended to be efficiently embodied in the enactment, and the effects and consequences as regards responding to the prevailing conceptions of the necessities of public welfare, play an important part in shaping the proper administration of the legislation. In the aggregate, they sometimes shed very efficient light in aid of clearing up obscurities as to the legislative intent . . . The courts should fully appreciate that and be imbued with and guided by the manifest intent of the law to eradicate, utterly, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See generally, 1 A. Larson's, Workmen's Compensation Law ch. 1-4 (1978); W. Prosser, The Law of Torts § 80 (4th ed. 1971). This excerpt from former Governor Henry Drury Hatfield's speech to the Legislature indicates West Virginia's experience with industrial accidents was not unlike experienced elsewhere in the county [sic]:

In harmony with the advance of civilization and our duty to our neighbor, a more humane system has grown up in the way of compensating workmen who are injured while engaged in the course of their employment. The burden in the past fell upon the employee first, but in case of death, to those dependent upon him. As the law stood previous to the passage of the Workmen's Compensation law, the industry was indemnified by the insurance companies, and less than fifteen percent of the injured received any damages in case of litigation, and then, after a long-drawn-out litigation, which resulted in practically nothing for the plaintiff. The injustice to the employee and waste of time and money to the tax-payer has excited the attention of public spirited men, and it has been demonstrated that it would have been a saving of money for the tax-payer if a reasonable compensation had been paid out of the State treasury, thereby preventing court cost and injustice. There is, however, no good reason why such a procedure should be necessary in the face of other remedies, which in justice and good conscience should be willing to do their part. Journal of the Senate, App. A., p. 67 (1915).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See generally, Journal of the Senate, p. 103-06 (1913) containing former Governor Hatfield's address to the Legislature advocating passage of a compensation law to deal with accidents in modern industrial conditions.

injustice to employers and employees, and the public as well, of the old system, and to substitute in its place an entirely new one based on the highest conception of man's humanity to man and obligation to industry upon which all depend; recognizing the aggregate of its attending accidents as an element of cost to be liquidated and balanced in money in the course of consumption - a system dealing with employees, employers, and the public as necessarily mutual Participants in bearing the burdens of such accidents, displacing the one dealing only with the class of injuries happening through inadvertent failure, without real moral turpitude, to exercise average human care, and placing employee and employer, whose interests are economically the same, in the false position of adversaries, to the misfortune of both and the public, intensified by opportunity for those concerned as judicial assistants to profit by such misfortunes. Most lamentable it will be, if this new system - so freighted with hopes for the minimizing of human burdens and their equitable distribution shall not endure and be perfected to the best that human wisdom can attain."

Mandolidis, 246 S.E.2d at 910-911, 161 W. Va. at 699-701, quoting, in part, McVey v. Chesapeake & Potomac Telephone Co., 103 W. Va. 519, 522-3, 138 S.E. 97, 98 (1927) quoting Milwaukee v. Miller, 154 Wis. 652, 144 N.W. 188 (1913). (footnotes in original were designated as footnotes 3 and 4).

 History of this Court's prior recognition of the disparate nature of workers' compensation claims and employee-plaintiffs' civil actions against third-party tortfeasors.

For more than a century, this Court has surveyed and recognized the distinctions between workers' compensation claims and civil actions pursued by employee-plaintiffs against third-party tortfeasors. In 1916, this Court observed that West Virginia's Workers' Compensation statute

deals solely with the employer and the employee and makes no reference whatever to third parties. It simply creates a fund to which the employee may apply for compensation for injuries sustained by him in the course of and resulting from his employment, and any employer subject to the act, who shall elect to pay into this fund the premiums provided by the act, is not liable to respond in damages at common law or statute for the injury or death of any employee however occurring, after such election and during any period in which the employer is not in default in the payment of such premiums, provided, the injured employee has remained in the service with notice that the employer has elected to pay into the fund the required premiums. This act does not release any employer from

liability for damages on account of injury or death of an employee caused by the deliberate intention to produce such injury or death.

There is nothing in our statute which would prohibit an employee who has received damages from a third person, from receiving from this fund the amount provided by law by way of compensation for damages arising out of the same act. . . .

Mercer v. Ott, 89 S.E. 952, 78 W. Va. 629, 636-637 (1916). See also Crab Orchard Improvement Co. v. Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co., 33 F. Supp. 580 (S.D. W. Va. 1940), aff'd, 115 F.2d 277 (4th Cir. 1940)). ("It is therefore the obvious intention of the West Virginia law to give the employee an entirely new remedy in addition to the one he had at common law or under the Wrongful Death Statute, and the law that gives that additional remedy deals only with the employer-employee relationship and not at all with third parties.")

In 1917, this Court held that "an employe[e] who receives compensation for an injury from the workmen's compensation fund, is not thereby estopped to sue a third person, not his employer, whose negligence caused [his] injury[.]" *Merrill v. Marietta Torpedo Co.*, 92 S.E. 112, 79 W. Va. 669 (1917). In *Merrill*, this Court further explained that

Plaintiff's injury was not due to the negligence of his employer, but, according to the finding of the jury, to the negligence of defendant, an independent contractor to do a particular work. compensation act does not deny right of action to a workman for injury received in the course of his employment, unless the negligence is that of the master, or such for which the master is liable at the common law. If the employee is injured in the course of his employment he is entitled to compensation out of the fund, whether his injury was occasioned by the negligence of the master or not; if occasioned by the negligence of a third person his right to compensation out of the fund is not thereby affected, nor is his right of action against a third person causing the injury impaired. The provision of the act is somewhat in the nature of life and accident insurance. That a person may be protected by accident insurance, and at the same time have a right of action against the person whose negligence produced the accident resulting in his injury, is well settled.

Merrill, 79 W. Va. at 678-679.

In 1960, this Court revisited the disparate nature of workers' compensation claims and common law causes of action brought against third-party tortfeasors:

The first is solely for statutory benefits and the second results form common law liability. Under the provisions of Chapter 23 of the West Virginia Code, entitled Workers' Compensation, the relationship between the employer who is a subscriber to the fund and his employee is one of implied contract. The employer agrees that his injured employees may be compensated for injuries sustained in the course of and as a result of their employment without regard to negligence except in certain instances not here material.

Jones, 115 S.E.2d at 134.

As recently as 2016, this Court relied on *Jones* for the proposition that "all awards in workers' compensation claims are solely statutory in nature." *Metcalf v. W. Va. United Health Sys.*, Case No. 15-0304, \*3 (Mem. Decision dated Feb. 26, 2016) (citing *Jones v. Appalachian Electric Power Company*, 115 S.E.2d 129, 134, 145 W. Va. 478, 488 (1960)).

With this background in mind, it is evident that West Virginia's Workers' Compensation Act is intended to provide a statutory scheme for employers and employees to address injuries suffered by employees in the course and scope of their employment and is not designed to address common law claims between employee-plaintiffs and third-party product liability defendants. In this vein, this Court has not previously allowed the application of collateral estoppel, premised upon workers' compensation proceedings, in favor of third-party tortfeasors against whom employee-plaintiffs have asserted civil common law claims.<sup>3</sup> The question that is squarely in front

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court and the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia have considered the application of collateral estoppel in civil cases between employers and employees, following final workers' compensation orders. See White v. SWCC, 262 S.E.2d 752, 164 W. Va. 284 (1980) (in an appeal of an order of the Workmen's Compensation Appeal Board which affirmed a ruling of the Workmen's Compensation Commissioner rejecting appellant's claim to compensation benefits for occupational pneumoconiosis, this Court indicated that "the doctrine of res judicata is applicable to Workmen's Compensation cases" between employers and employees); Corley v. E. Associated Coal Corp., 2009 WL 723120 (N.D.W. Va. Mar. 18, 2009) (indicating that while workers' compensation proceedings between employers and employees are quasi-judicial proceedings to which res judicata or collateral estoppel may attach and have preclusive effect in some instances, collateral estoppel could not be applied in favor of the employer-defendant, in a deliberate intent case between an employee-plaintiff and employer-defendant, because the underlying workers' compensation order, which denied the claim on the basis of a failure to

of this Court today is whether collateral estoppel may be applied to bar a plaintiff-employee's civil common law claims against third-party product liability defendants.

# D. Procedural history.

# 1. The related workers' compensation occupational disease claim.

Mr. Ruble and his physician executed a West Virginia Workers' Compensation Employees' and Physicians' Report of Occupational Injury or Disease on January 3, 2019. The related claim was premised upon "solvent toxicity/chemical exposure with neuropathy [and] dermatitis[.]" JA 000032-JA 000033.

Mr. Ruble then filed his related occupational disease workers' compensation claim, which was denied by the applicable claim administrator in an order dated September 24, 2019. JA 000585. The claim administrator's order was affirmed by the Office of Judges on October 15, 2020. JA 000585-JA 000613.

Mr. Ruble appealed the Office of Judge's decision to the State of West Virginia Workers' Compensation Board of Review. Although it made several modifications to the Office of Judges order, including an admonition that "[t]he Board does not adopt the Administrative Law Judge's statement that the salient question is whether the claimant was over-exposed to the chemicals[,]"

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