DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-0329

MICHAEL D. RUBLE et al.

Petitioners

v.

RUST-OLEUM CORPORATION et al.

Respondents

Hon. Paul T. Farrell, Judge Circuit Court of Cabell County Civil Action No. 19-C-127

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Counsel for Respondents* Ancil G. Ramey (No. 3013) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 2195 Huntington, WV 25701 304.526.8133 ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com Counsel for Respondent Matrix Chemical LLC

* additional counsel provided on following page

James J.A. Mulhall (No. 6491) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 1616 Morgantown, WV 26507 304.598.8119 james.mulhall@steptoe-johnson.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ruble does not take umbrage with the fullness or fairness of his workers' compensation proceedings. Nor does he address collateral estoppel's prerequisites. Instead, he makes three arguments that, if given effect, would nullify collateral estoppel.

He begins with a constitutional attack, saying that applying collateral estoppel to an administrative or other proceeding that does not include a jury is inconsistent with the jury trial provision of the West Virginia Constitution. But he bases that on an Arkansas case of questionable value that considered a distinct Arkansas constitutional provision that made the right to a jury trial "inviolate." Importantly, this Court has already decided that cases dealing with constitutions mandating the right to a jury trial "inviolate"—as in Arkansas—are not persuasive when analyzing West Virginia's constitution. Ruble also ignores that the United States Supreme Court has affirmed using administrative decisions to effect collateral estoppel.

Then Ruble turns to the application of collateral estoppel—a doctrine already well-established in West Virginia. The circuit court explained that Matrix had established each of the doctrine's prerequisites, but Ruble ignores that in his brief. According to him, individuals will have to choose to either apply for workers'

¹⁷ See, e.g., JA 854-55, 859.

compensation or bring a lawsuit against third parties, but that presents a false dilemma. He also claims that Matrix seeks immunity under the workers' compensation statute. It does not. Instead, Matrix simply explains—like this Court has accepted—that administrative decisions—like those produced in the workers' compensation proceedings—can collaterally estop a party from revisiting issues that have been decided. Further, Ruble drags a red herring, ignoring the common element of causation that justifies collateral estoppel and demanding the opportunity to prove the other elements of his tort claims. None of this justifies the outcome Ruble seeks.

Lastly, Ruble raises a perceived evidentiary problem with the circuit court's judicial notice of the outcome of the workers' compensation proceedings. Yet he ignores that collateral estoppel is necessarily based on the judicial notice of another proceeding's outcome.

At bottom, Ruble invites this Court to end collateral estoppel. This Court should decline that invitation.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT & DECISION

Despite Ruble's characterization of this case, oral argument is unnecessary. This case is about collateral estoppel, which is neither novel nor constitutionally problematic. Moreover, while the specific application in the workers' compensation context by a third party may not have been before this Court before, there is nothing new about using administrative rulings to effect collateral estoppel in the context of workers' compensation cases. And the circuit court properly applied this Court's collateral estoppel framework.

ARGUMENT

Ruble raises three issues on appeal. *First*, he asserts that collateral estoppel is inconsistent with the jury trial provision of the West Virginia Constitution. *Second*, he believes that the circuit court's decision forces individuals to choose between workers' compensation claims and litigation against third parties *and* ignores that three administrative decisions found he could not prove that he suffered any injuries that were caused by his workplace exposure to chemicals. *Third*, he contends that the circuit court improperly took judicial notice of the outcome of his workers' compensation proceedings. This Court should disagree with Ruble on all grounds and preserve the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

For the most part, this Court's review is de novo, but not entirely. Evidentiary issues—like Ruble's third issue, which concerns judicial notice—are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.¹⁸

1. The circuit court correctly concluded that collateral estoppel is consistent with the jury trial provision of the West Virginia Constitution.

Ruble begins with constitutional contentions. In his opinion, collateral estoppel is inconsistent with the jury trial provision of the West Virginia Constitution. He bases this belief on a single Arkansas case of questionable value that is problematic for several reasons.¹⁹

¹⁸ See, e.g., Arnold Agency v. W. Va. Lottery Comm'n, 206 W. Va. 583, 593, 526 S.E.2d 814, 824 (1999) ("Absent a few exceptions, this Court will review evidentiary and procedural rulings of the circuit court under an abuse of discretion standard.")

¹⁹ See Craven v. Fulton Sanitation Serv. Inc., 206 S.W.3d 842 (Ark. 2005).

For one, that case considered a provision in Arkansas' constitution that meaningfully differs from West Virginia's. That case was also based on Arkansas statutes that vary from West Virginia's. And the administrative proceedings in Arkansas did not make findings concerning the relevant injury. Further, Ruble's arguments are inconsistent with decisions from the Supreme Court of the United States and the regular practice of deciding cases before impaneling a jury under other doctrines and rules. Ruble claims that a jury trial is guaranteed by filing a lawsuit, but that would nullify motions to dismiss, motions for summary judgment, and collateral estoppel.

A constitutional jury trial provision does not erase the doctrine of collateral estoppel. For example, like the West Virginia Constitution, the United States Constitution preserves a party's "right of trial by jury."²⁰ But, the federal jury trial provision "does not negate the issue-preclusive effect of a judgment, even if that judgment was entered by a juryless tribunal."²¹ The Supreme Court of Alabama came to the same conclusion—based partly on decisions from the Supreme Court of the

²⁰ U.S Const. amend. VII. The jury trial provisions of the West Virginia Constitution and the United States Constitution are substantially similar. *Compare* W. Va. Const. art. III, § 13 ("In suits at common law, where the value in controversy exceeds twenty dollars exclusive of interest and costs, the right of trial by jury, if required by either party, shall be preserved; and in such suit in a court of limited jurisdiction a jury shall consist of six persons. No fact tried by a jury shall be otherwise reexamined in any case than according to the rule of court or law."), with U.S. Const. amend. VII ("In Suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise re-examined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.").

²¹ B&B Hardware Inc. v. Hargis Indus. Inc., 575 U.S. 138, 150 (2015).

United States—when asked whether collateral estoppel conflicted with its constitutional jury trial provision.²²

In fact, collateral estoppel is one of many procedural devices used to decide a case before a jury is impaneled.²³ For example, a directed verdict or summary judgment order resolves a case without a jury.²⁴ A bench trial does, too.²⁵ These common tools are not constitutionally questionable.

Still, Ruble would have this Court take away these standard tools based on a single case from the Supreme Court of Arkansas—*Craven*. However, *Craven* is unavailing for multiple reasons.

In that case, the Supreme Court of Arkansas refused to give a workers' compensation determination preclusive effect under the state's constitutional promise that a jury will determine factual issues. It also considered the state's workers' compensation statute that expressly preserved third-party claims.²⁶ But *Craven* hardly provides a solid foundation for Ruble.

²² Caton v. City of Pelham, 329 So. 3d 5, 27 (Ala. 2020). That provision reads, "That the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Ala. Const. art. I, § 11.

²³ See, e.g., Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322, 336 (1979) ("Many procedural devices developed since 1791 that have diminished the civil jury's historic domain have been found not to be inconsistent with the Seventh Amendment." (cleaned up)).

²⁴ See id.

²⁵ See Caton, 329 So. 3d at 26.

²⁶ Craven relied on section 11-9-410(a)(1)(A) of the Arkansas Code, which broadly provides that the "making of a claim for compensation against any employer . . . shall not affect the right of the employee . . . to make a claim or maintain an action in court against any third party." In marked contrast, section 23-2A-1(a) of the West Virginia Code preserves only third-party claims when there is a "compensable injury or death" caused by a third party. Since Ruble did not have a workplace injury, our statute suggests that he cannot pursue a third-party action—in contrast to the Arkansas statute relied on in *Craven* and by Ruble.

For instance, one justice in *Craven* noted that the workers' compensation proceedings had not considered the relevant injury—an alleged lumbar-strain injury—making collateral estoppel inapplicable.²⁷ As a result, the concurring justice noted, the constitutional issue should not have been considered.²⁸

Furthermore, the jury trial provision at issue in *Craven* is meaningfully distinct from the relevant West Virginia provision. While Arkansas makes the right to a jury trial "inviolate," West Virginia promises its "preservation."²⁹ Importantly, this Court has previously held that a case involving a foreign state's constitution's jury trial provision using "inviolate" is not persuasive when analyzing West Virginia's constitutional jury trial provision.³⁰ That alone renders *Craven*'s analysis useless to this Court.

Additionally—and relatedly—Arkansas had to adopt a workers' compensation amendment to its constitution "before the legislature could establish [the state's] workers' compensation laws" because of the constitutional language.³¹ On the other

²⁷ Craven, 206 S.W.3d at 848-49 (Imber, J., concurring) ("The issue of whether appellant's lumbar-strain injury was caused by the automobile accident has yet to be determined ... In the absence of any such finding, collateral estoppel does not preclude subsequent litigation on whether the lumbar-strain injury was caused by the automobile accident." (cleaned up)).

²⁸ Id. at 849.

²⁹ Compare Ark. Const. art. II, § 7, with W. Va. Const. art. III, § 13.

³⁰ MacDonald v. City Hosp. Inc., 227 W. Va. 707, 717, 715 S.E.2d 405, 415 (2011) ("The Georgia Constitution states plainly that the right to trial by jury shall remain inviolate. Our state constitutional provision regarding the right to trial by jury differs substantially, and accordingly, the Georgia court's analysis is not persuasive." (cleaned up)). Of course, this lessens the persuasive value of *Caton*. This is inconsequential, however, since it bolsters the persuasive value of the cases from the Supreme Court of the United States upon which *Caton* was based because of the similarity of West Virginia's provision and the federal provision.

³¹ Craven, 206 S.W.3d at 847.

hand, West Virginia did not have to amend its constitution to establish its workers' compensation laws, highlighting the differences between the states' jury trial provisions.

While *Craven* found a constitutional conflict with collateral estoppel, it used an unreliable map to get there. It did not mention any decisions from the Supreme Court of United States,³² choosing instead to follow the guidance of an intermediate court of appeals.³³ But *Heine*—the decision *Craven* followed—is unreliable because it did not involve a constitutional question. Collateral estoppel did not apply "because the issues were not identical and the workers' compensation proceedings did not afford [the plaintiff] a full and fair opportunity to be heard on the wage-loss issue."³⁴ It was not a jury trial provision that precluded collateral estoppel in *Heine*; instead, it was the failure to satisfy collateral estoppel's requirements.

Because collateral estoppel does not offend a jury trial provision—except apparently in Arkansas per an unpersuasive opinion—this Court should reject Ruble's constitutional contentions.

³² The Supreme Court of Alabama found collateral estoppel applicable based on decisions from the Supreme Court of the United States. *Caton*, 329 So. 3d at 24-25 (discussing B&B Hardware Inc. along with Astoria Federal Savings & Loan Association v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104 (1991)).

³³ Craven, 206 S.W.3d at 846–47 (relying on Heine v. Simon, 674 N.W.2d 411 (Minn. Ct. App. 2004), affirmed in part and reversed in part, 702 N.W.2d 752 (Minn. 2005)).

³⁴ Heine, 674 N.W.2d at 421. On appeal, the Supreme Court of Minnesota also decided that collateral estoppel was inapplicable—not for constitutional reasons, but because the wage loss issues in the workers' compensation proceedings were not identical to the issues in the civil case. *Heine v. Simon*, 702 N.W.2d 752, 763 (Minn. 2005).

2. The circuit court correctly applied collateral estoppel.

In broad terms, Ruble's second assignment of error challenges the circuit court's application of collateral estoppel by third-party non-employers. Ruble explicitly agrees with Matrix that the circuit court "correctly identified West Virginia's four-part test concerning the application of collateral estoppel."³⁵ Moreover, he implicitly agrees with another—that is, the circuit court correctly found each part had been satisfied—because, beyond that single passing reference to the test, he does not again discuss it, its components, or the circuit court's assessment of those parts. Still, a brief review of that assessment is in order.

Under West Virginia law, collateral estoppel prevents reconsideration of a claim or issue if the prior issue is identical to the present issue, the prior issue was resolved on the merits, the party defending against the doctrine was also a party in the prior action or in privity with a party in that action, and that party "had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action."³⁶ Each condition is met in this case.

The prior issue in the workers' compensation claim is identical to the present issue in Ruble's litigation. In the workers' compensation proceedings, Ruble claimed that he was exposed to chemicals while working at the Lesage facility between 1996

³⁵ Br. 14.

³⁶ Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995) ("(1) The issue previously decided is identical to the one presented in the action in question, (2) there is a final adjudication on the merits of the prior action; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was a party or in privity with a party to the prior action; and (4) the party against whom the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior action.").

and 2018.³⁷ That exposure, he argued, caused him to develop sensory peripheral polyneuropathy, tremors, and weakness of distal arms and legs, dermatitis, and pneumonia.³⁸ In the circuit court proceedings, Ruble alleged that the same chemical exposure during the same time frame during the same employment at the same work location caused the same injuries.³⁹

The prior issue was resolved on the merits. The Office of Judges concluded that Ruble did not develop his injuries "in the course of and as a result of employment."⁴⁰ The Board of Review then affirmed that merits adjudication.⁴¹ Ruble did not appeal to this Court, so he concedes—as he must—that "the Board of Review's order is a final decision on the merits of the related workers' compensation proceedings."⁴²

The party defending against the doctrine was also a party in the prior action or in privity with a party in that action. Michael Ruble was a party in the workers' compensation proceedings, so collateral estoppel would apply to him. It would also apply to Brenda Ruble because her loss of consortium claim depends on and is derivative of Michael's claims.⁴³ Michael and Brenda thus "shar[e] the same legal

³⁷ See JA 585-89, 594.

³⁸ See, e.g., JA 589–93, 596–97 (noting alleged ailments).

³⁹ See JA 174 (alleging "exposure to toxic chemicals at the Lesage facility" while employed from 1996 to 2018 "was proximate cause of his development of sensory peripheral polyneuropathy, tremors and weakness of distal arms and legs, dermatitis, and pneumonia").

⁴⁰ JA 609.

⁴¹ JA 616.

⁴² Br. 10.

⁴³ S. Env't Inc. v. Bell, 244 W. Va. 465, 473, 854 S.E.2d 285, 298 (2020) ("A claim for loss of consortium cannot be maintained independent of a cognizable personal injury claim.").

right," so Brenda's interest was "adequately represented because of [her] purported privity with a party at the initial proceedings."44

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